IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA (Before A Referee)

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

VS.

MICHAEL M. TOBIN,

Respondent.

Appeal from Recommendation of Referee

BILLERK, SUPREME COURT By______Chilef Depoty Clerk

The Florida Bar File No. 93-70,033 (11F)

Supreme Court Case No. 84,203

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

PATTERSON & MALONEY

Counsel for Respondent 600 South Andrews Avenue Suite 600 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 (305) 522-1700

H.T. MALONEY, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 049910

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Counsel for the Respondent, MICHAEL M. TOBIN, certifies that the following persons and

entities have or may have an interest in the outcome of this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Statement of the Case was contained in the Report of the Referee, which was substantially as follows:

That the Complaint was served upon the Respondent by Certified Mail on August 8, 1994. A review of the file revealed that the Respondent never filed an answer to that Complaint. On November 2, 1994, 55 days after service, the Respondent had not filed a response to the Request for Admissions. On December 27, 1994, The Florida Bar filed a Motion for an Order deeming the matters admitted. On January 13, 1995, based upon the Respondent's failure to file a response, an Order was enforced deeming the matters contained in the Request for Admissions as admitted. On January 19, 1995, 78 days after service, the Respondent filed his Response to the Request for Admissions. On April 5, 1995, a hearing was scheduled on the Florida Bar's Motion to Strike the Respondent's Response. That on April 5, 1995, the Respondent filed a Motion to Accept Delayed Filing of Response to Request for Admissions. On April 11, 1995, an Order was entered granting The Florida Bar's Motion to Strike the Responses to Request for Admissions filed by the Respondent.

A hearing was held before the Referee on April 24, 1995, and the Referee entered his report on the 26th day of May, 1995.

On the 19th of July, 1995, the matter was submitted to the Board of Governors, and at an exparte review no action was taken concerning the Referee's recommendation. By ex-parte, it is meant that counsel for the Respondent was present and requested to be allowed to appear before the reviewing Sub-Committee, which request was denied, even though counsel for The Bar was allowed to attend.

As an aside, it was reported that the Sub-Committee was advised that they had no discretion except to accept the findings and recommendations of the Referee. It is not known whether this Representation was made to the Sub-Committee, but if so, it means that the Board of Governors'

review is a meaningless action.

The Referee, in his report, made findings of fact which track specifically the thirty-seven (37)

requests for admissions propounded by The Florida Bar.

Based upon the above, the Referee made the following recommendations:

"I recommend that the Respondent be found guilty and specifically that he be found guilty of the following violations of the Rules of Professional Conduct:

1. Rule 4-3.3(d) for failing in an ex parte proceedings to inform the tribunal of all material facts known to him that would enable the tribunal to make an informed decision.

2. Rule 4-3.4(c) for knowingly disobeying an obligation under the rules of the tribunal.

I recommend that the Respondent be found not guilty of violating Rule 4-1.5(c) of the Rules of Professional Conduct."

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This disciplinary action was allegedly commenced as a result of a newspaper article in the Miami Herald and not as a result of the complaint of any parties to the litigation. (A. 37, 38). It is important to note however, that a contemporaneous proceeding was filed by the Bar on the complaint of BETTERS, who stated he was represented by "HATFIELD" (A.5) and HATFIELD, herself, stated in open court she was going to contact the Bar. (A. 6,7)

TOBIN... If you look back at my letters and if any Court wants to look back at my records or as counsel suggested if the Bar Association looks back at my records, I will stand on what I've done and I would never make a threat --

MS. HATFIELD: I did not threaten. I made a statement for the record. I am going to the Bar.

MR. TOBIN: May I finish what I'm saying? I would never suggest in front of a Court a threat to the Bar Association --

MS. HATFIELD: I'm going to the Bar Association.

MR. TOBIN: -- as appropriate argument nor voice on the record such a threat.

MS. HATFIELD: I really believe what you did was improper.

MR. TOBIN: You do it, you don't threaten.

MS. HATFIELD: I'm not threatening. I'm making a statement.

In approximately April, 1988, TOBIN filed a lawsuit on behalf of PLANE ADDS to establish insurance coverage on an airplane which had been involved in a crash resulting in the destruction of the airplane and the death of two (2) individuals. The insurance company, AVEMCO was the insuring company. The lower court, on the basis of improper cancellation notice, entered a judgment determining that there was coverage, which judgment was appealed by AVEMCO. The Fourth District Court of Appeal, in <u>AVEMCO v. PLANE ADDS, INC.</u>, 555 So.2d 865 (4th DCA 1989), affirmed said judgment on December 20, 1989. The insurance policy upon which the suit was based listed BETTERS and PIPER as loss payees. (A. 39). Neither BETTERS or PIPER moved to intervene, filed a claim of lien nor were they interpleaded during the proceeding.

On February 9, 1990 the Defendant, AVEMCO, pursuant to its Motion to Deposit Judgment Proceeds into Court Registry, deposited the sum of \$48,215 into the Court Registry to satisfy the Final Judgment entered against it in the pending action. (A. 40). This Motion was granted and an unrestricted Order was entered. (A. 44,45). At this time, the only parties to the action were PLANE ADDS and AVEMCO. On or about February 20, 1990, BETTERS moved to intervene on the basis that some of the proceeds in the Court Registry belonged to him. (A.46 - 49). This Motion for Intervention was denied by the trial judge based upon the existing law as espoused in <u>Maryland</u> <u>Casualty Company v. Hanson Dredging. Inc.</u>, 393 So. 2d 595 (4th DCA 1981). (A. 50 - 53). Prior to the attempt to intervene, PLANE ADDS, through TOBIN, had moved and had obtained an Order allowing it to withdraw \$15,792.00 of the \$48,215.00, which undisputedly was the amount owed to PLANE ADDS, without consideration of any claims by BETTERS and PIPER.

Subsequent to the denial of BETTERS' Motion to Intervene, TOBIN, on behalf of PLANE ADDS, obtained an ex parte Order from the Court directing the Clerk of the Court to pay the remaining \$32,423 to PLANE ADDS, the only party in the lawsuit entitled to receive the funds.

On the 3rd or 4th of April, TOBIN was given telephone notice from HATFIELD that she was going to contact the Court on an emergency basis concerning the withdrawal of funds. TOBIN had

in his possession the check from the Clerk of the Court of Broward County, made payable to PLANE ADDS, which was withdrawn on April 2nd. Because of the telephone call, TOBIN did not know whether or not he should deliver the check to his client under those circumstances and called The Florida Bar Hot-Line to obtain an opinion on how to proceed. The Hot-Line, according to TOBIN'S testimony, told him that he had an ethical duty to deliver the check to his client (A.54 - 56).

On the 6th of June, 1990, four days after the funds were withdrawn, Judge Price entered an Order directing PLANE ADDS and its attorneys to return the \$32,423.00 to the Court Registry. In the Order, prepared by HATFIELD, HATFIELD specifically stated that AVEMCO deposited the funds to satisfy the judgment against it. The said HATFIELD also included in the Order the following statement:

These funds rightfully and legally belong to the lienholder, Piper Acceptance Corporation, pursuant to the insurance policy, and in satisfaction of the final judgment. Douglas Betters has assigned his rights to the proceeds of the insurance policy to Piper Acceptance Corp. to the extent necessary to satisfy their settlement agreement.

Nowhere in the record or proceedings was there ever a determination of entitlement as to whom the remaining funds should be paid.

As of April 2, 1990, PLANE ADDS was the only party in the pending lawsuit entitled to the \$32,423.00, although it was always admitted that there may have been claims to these funds, either by PIPER or BETTERS, on properly establishing the same. No restrictions were contained in the Order allowing AVEMCO to deposit the funds into the Court Registry. (A. 44, 45).

Although AVEMCO claimed the remaining funds belonged to PIPER, there was a question as to whether or not PIPER had already been paid. PIPERS' agent, in sworn testimony, stated that on the date of cancellation was to be affected, she contacted PIPERS' own single interest carrier and added the aircraft to PIPERS' coverage. This fact was also affirmatively contained in AVEMCO'S Memorandum of Law filed with the Court. (A. 26 - 36).

After the Court had granted PLANE ADDS' Motion for Withdrawal of Funds, the Court entertained a Motion to Vacate that Order, and by separate Order dated June 5, 1990, required the Plaintiff, PLANE ADDS, and its attorneys, return the \$32,423.00 to the Registry of the Court. At a subsequent date, pursuant to a motion of AVEMCO, a hearing was held as to why PLANE ADDS and its attorneys should not be held in contempt of court for failing to return the funds, and at that time Judge Price, after learning that TOBIN never received any part of the \$32,423.00 and that the check payable to the P.A. in this amount was delivered to PLANE ADDS, entered an Order on December 21, 1990, refusing to hold TOBIN in contempt.(A. 57).

Some eleven (11) months later, in November, 1991, after Judge Price retired from the bench, AVEMCO, through HATFIELD, again moved to have TOBIN held responsible for the <u>return of the</u> <u>funds he never received</u> in a proceeding before Judge Price's successor, Judge Grossman. Judge Grossman, after being informed that Judge Price denied the Motion to hold TOBIN in contempt, issued his own Order requiring TOBIN, individually, to be responsible for returning the monies to the Court. (A. 58). On April 1, 1992, Judge Grossman allowed TOBIN to deposit \$38,179.19, which represented the amount to be returned, plus interest, as a form of supersedeas pending an appeal of his order to return funds. (A. 59).

The Fourth District Court of Appeal, in a per curium opinion, affirmed Judge Grossman's Order. After the appeal had become final, AVEMCO and PIPER moved for, and were paid, the entire amount that was withdrawn from the Registry, plus interest. Not only did TOBIN comply with the Order to return the funds from <u>his own pocket</u>, but he paid substantial fees in the

proceedings before Judge Price, Judge Grossman and in the appellate court. Neither PIPER, or BETTERS ever moved to recover the funds from PLANE ADDS or PHILLIPS, or move to have the Court enforce its contempt order against PHILLIPS.

POINTS ON APPEAL

<u>POINT I</u>

PROCEEDING EX-PARTE TO OBTAIN AN ORDER DIRECTING THE CLERK OF THE COURT TO DISBURSE FUNDS DEPOSITED IN THE COURT REGISTRY TO THE ONLY PARTY IN THE CASE ENTITLED TO THOSE FUNDS DOES NOT CONSTITUTE GROUNDS FOR SUSPENSION.

POINT II

AN ATTORNEY SHOULD NOT BE SUSPENDED FROM THE PRACTICE OF LAW FOR A PERIOD OF 45 DAYS ON THE BASIS OF KNOWINGLY DISOBEYING AN OBLIGATION UNDER THE RULES OF A TRIBUNAL WHEN IN FACT THERE WAS NO SUCH DISOBEDIENCE.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Respondent should not be suspended for something he did not do based on his failure to timely respond to Requests for Admissions.

If The Florida Bar wishes to bring an action against Respondent for failure to act with reasonable diligence in responding to the Bar complaint and Request for Admissions, the Respondent, as he did before the Referee, must plead guilty. However, it is entirely inappropriate for The Florida Bar to propound Request for Admissions, no matter how innocently done, which contain false facts and then rely on the failure to respond to the same as grounds for discipline. In making a determination as to the recommended discipline, the Referee must consider whether or not the Respondent actually did what he was accused of doing. No consideration of the aggravating or mitigating circumstances can be meaningly evaluated or applied if the premise for the discipline does not exist. Therefore, the Referee erred as a matter of law when he failed to consider the truthfulness of what was contained in the Request for Admissions. In addition, the Referee erred as a matter of law in accepting as true Request for Admissions which included conclusions of law.

ARGUMENT

<u>POINT I</u>

PROCEEDING EX-PARTE TO OBTAIN AN ORDER DIRECTING THE CLERK OF THE COURT TO DISBURSE FUNDS DEPOSITED IN THE COURT REGISTRY TO THE ONLY PARTY IN THE CASE ENTITLED TO THOSE FUNDS DOES NOT CONSTITUTE GROUNDS FOR SUSPENSION.

The Referee's first recommendation found on page 8 of his report (A. 67) is

"1. Rule 4-3.3(d) for failing in an exparte proceedings to inform the tribunal of all material facts known to him that would enable the tribunal to make an informed decision."

This finding must be based on either the Request for Admissions itemized below or on the

evidence submitted during the Referee's proceedings. If there were no ex-parte proceedings, where

the attorney actually met the Judge, then the failure to inform is a meaningless statement.

The Referee's report of May 26, 1995 (A.60 - 70) recites on pages 4 and 5 the following

findings of fact, which were adopted directly from the Request for Admissions:

O. That in furtherance of the request made on April 2, 1990, Sapiro participated in an ex-parte meeting with Judge Price, and represented to the Court that the motion for the release of the remaining funds was unopposed.

P. That based upon Sapiro's representation that the motion to withdraw the remaining funds were unopposed, the Court ordered the release to Sapiro of the remaining \$32,423 held in the Court Registry.

Such meeting never occurred nor were such representations ever made. The first expression

of such occurrence was in "O" and "P" of The Florida Bar's Request for Admissions. This assertion by The Florida Bar could have come only from one source, that being HATFIELD, who, in an irregular circumstance, later testified to the same. (A. 8). The irregular circumstance was that in the disciplinary proceeding HATFIELD appeared by phone and, although no one was present at the place HATFIELD was located to identify her or swear her in, the Court Reporter at the Bar office was to supposedly administer an oath to a person she could not see or did not know. What in fact happened, after objections to the procedure, was that the Court forgot to have her sworn in.

For the first time in all of the proceedings, HATFIELD alleged that a positive misrepresentation was made to Judge Price at an ex-parte meeting with Judge Price.

The first chronological statement of what happened was included in an Order signed by Judge

Price but authored by HATFIELD.

JUDGE PRICE: Sure. I was not the author of <u>that order</u>, although I did sign it. I just said I was not the author of that order and I was not the author of a good portion of the order. I signed it as a circuit judge and I am sure I read it over and had no problem in signing it, which I did. Ms. Hatfield in all probability was the author. I do not know. [Emphasis supplied]

Order Directing Plaintiff Plane Adds, Inc. and its Attorneys to Return Funds to Court Registry provides, in relevant part:

.....

"8. That by presenting the Motion and Order to release the funds without a hearing, Plaintiff's attorneys <u>impliedly</u> represented to the Court that the Defendant had no opposition to the Motion and Order." (A. 12) [Emphasis supplied]

At a hearing on June 14, 1990, Judge Price stated:

"I saw an order come through here and I <u>assumed</u> that the matter had been concluded and settled and I signed the order and I think perhaps I may have been remiss in not making more of an inquiry." (A. 16) [Emphasis supplied]

At a hearing on April 6, 1990, HATFIELD made the following representation to Judge Price:

MS. HATFIELD: What happened was the order was signed

before I ever received the motion. The motion was filed, the order was signed the same day. I got the motion the next day. I called your secretary immediately and said, "Don't let the Judge sign the order until we have had a chance to file an opposition to this motion and get a hearing date." And she said, "Whoa, it's already been signed.".... (A. 9, 10)

.....

It would appear that the recollection of HATFIELD in drawing the order of April 7th and her statement to the Court on April 6, 1990 contained a better recollection of what occurred. She certainly would not have used the words in the April 7th Order that there was an <u>implied</u> representation, if in fact she knew there was an ex-parte meeting where an <u>actual misrepresentation</u> was made. Furthermore, the Judge would not <u>assume</u> if someone had talked directly to him.

SAPIRO did deliver a Motion and Order to the Court's office on April 2, 1990, pursuant to the directions of TOBIN. However, no one testified that he met with the Judge or made any misrepresentations.

The question to be answered is whether or not, pursuant to the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure or Local Court Rules, it is necessary for a party to give notice to the opposing party for application for the withdrawal of funds from a Court Registry when the opposing party has deposited the same in the Court Registry in satisfaction of its judgment?

Section 55.141, Florida. Statutes, (1993), does not address this issue. It simply states in subsection (2)

> [U]pon request therefor, shall pay over to the person entitled, or to his order, the full amount of the payment so received, less his fees for issuing execution on such judgment or decree, if any has been issued, and less his fees for receiving into and paying out of the registry of the court such payment, together with the fees of the clerk for receiving into and paying such money out of the registry of the court.

The unusual circumstance in this case was that there were other claiming entities to those

funds but they were not parties to the action, and the one who had moved to intervene had his motion denied.

The other party (PIPER), who had not moved to intervene, had, through its authorized agent in sworn testimony, stated that it had obtained insurance which would have satisfied the underlying obligation. In addition, PIPER had admitted that it had obtained a judgment in another action against another party for the same funds it was claiming in this proceeding and had moved for execution on the same. Under these circumstances, it is believed that there was no necessity of providing notice and that the funds should have been delivered to PLANE ADDS, the judgement holder, upon exparte application. TOBIN'S position, as expressed at the hearing of the 6th of April, 1990, cogently summarizes what occurred and his basis for his action:

THE COURT: All I'm saying, at this point as a practical matter, the money has already been released. It has already gone. So, a few more days is not that vital and if it's necessary --

MR. TOBIN: Your Honor, this is not a petition to intervene or for interpleader.

THE COURT: I understand.

MR. TOBIN: This is her attempt to hide what she has done.

THE COURT: You're technically the only party I think probably technically in this suit. And there has been no motion to intervene that has been granted. It is true that Ms. Hatfield came forward and, in effect, put the money in this registry of the Court.

MS. HATFIELD: To prevent exactly what's happening.

THE COURT: That you claimed you have a judgment you had a right to have satisfied and --

MR. TOBIN: Absolutely. I can tell you I told Ms. Hatfield when you denied it and I sent a letter to counsel. I gave them terms of

settlement prior to your Honor's ruling on the question of intervention and said we can settle on this basis, that basis and another basis, but, fellows, don't reach into my pocket and take my money away from my client so you can get more money because of a deal you worked out between Mr. Betters and Piper.

Prior to that order coming in we had an offer on the table as to how to divide the funds which I indicated was rejected at that time. And they knew of this. They all knew of this. Ms. Hatfield knew what our position was when your Honor denied the intervention that those funds belonged to us and I would submit, your Honor, it's improper for counsel to suggest that I'm doing anything improper. She had full knowledge that's exactly what we were going to do based upon the motion to intervene with Mr. Betters and the denial of the motion.

And what she's done here is simply filed another motion in another style to say, "Judge, why don't you intervene in this case and, in effect, give Betters or Piper whatever relief they want."

I think she's got no standing to do that when she put the funds in the Registry of the Court. This is not an interpleader action by putting in the Registry put in on behalf of the Defendant for the plaintiff to withdraw because it stops interest running at that time. That money becomes ours and we don't earn the interest on the money while it sits in the Registry of the Court.

That sat there for two months. We negotiated and sent letters. When your Honor entered the order denying the motion to intervene we proceeded and if she said she didn't know that's what we were going to do, Judge, then there is a tooth fairy." (A.71 - 73)

It is believed that the question before this Court is whether or not it is necessary to give notice

to opposing counsel when one seeks to remove funds, which were deposited by opposing counsel's client to satisfy a judgement, and when, further, there are other parties claiming interests in the funds who have not been interpled, have not filed a lien, did not move to intervene, and their motions to intervene were denied.

ARGUMENT

POINT II

AN ATTORNEY SHOULD NOT BE SUSPENDED FROM THE PRACTICE OF LAW FOR A PERIOD OF 45 DAYS ON THE BASIS OF KNOWINGLY DISOBEYING AN OBLIGATION UNDER THE RULES OF A TRIBUNAL WHEN IN FACT THERE WAS NO SUCH DISOBEDIENCE.

Since there was specificity in the Referee's report as to what obligation under the rules of a

tribunal TOBIN knowingly disobeyed, it must be assumed that the Referee was considering sub-

paragraphs (q), (s), (t), (y), (bb), (ff), (gg), (hh), or (kk). Q, S, and T are as follows:

Q. That prior to April 2, 1990, the Respondent had not contacted Avemco to discuss the release of the remaining \$32,423.00 from the Court Registry, nor confirmed whether Sapiro had contacted Avemco prior to the hearing before Judge Price on April 2, 1990. (A. 64)

S. That at the time the \$32,423.00 in funds were withdrawn from the Court Registry, the Respondent was aware that by law, he was required to serve proper notice of hearing upon the opposing party within a reasonable time before the hearing in accordance with the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. (A. 64)

T. That the Respondent was also aware on April 2, 1990, that a proposed order of judgments must be furnished to opposing counsel prior to its submission to the Court, in accordance with the Local Rules of Court, Rule 8. (A. 64)

If there was no need to give notice as argued under Point I, then Q, S and T are immaterial

and then the Referee's "knowingly disobeying an obligation under the rules of the tribunal" would

not constitute a breach of the Rules of Professional Responsibility.

It must now be assumed that the Court was directing its determination of violation, 4-3.4(c),

at the failure to return the funds to the Court Registry. It must be assumed that TOBIN should be

accorded the same rights in a judicial proceeding as any other citizen of the State of Florida. When Judge Price, in his Order of December 21, 1990 (A. 57) refused to hold TOBIN in contempt, he stated he did so because TOBIN didn't receive the money. This would, in most men's minds, indicate that the return of the funds should be from the person receiving the funds, not the attorney.

Despite this ruling, eleven months later, after Judge Price had retired, AVEMCO, through HATFIELD, was successful in getting the successor judge to enter a new order (A. 58). During the proceedings in front of Judge Grossman, TOBIN sought, through counsel, the right to deposit the funds and anticipated interest in the Registry of the Court pending the outcome of his appeal in the Forth District. Pursuant to court authorization, <u>This was done</u>. After the Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed Judge Grossman's rulings, the funds were withdrawn by PIPER without there ever being a determination that PIPER was factually entitled to the funds.

The Referee, in his statements at the end of the proceedings, made the following comments:

THE COURT: The Court has heard the testimony of the witnesses by affidavit and also a lot of testimony, but it has not had an opportunity to review all the exhibits.

It is apparent, and as counsel for Mr. Tobin has stated, that an attorney must represent his client to the fullest. An attorney also has to play by the rules. We do have certain rules set forth relating to the Florida Bar. It is important that each of you as attorneys follow the rules. We have those rules and there is no reason to not follow them.

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