IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

DEC 8 1995

CLERK SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Depoty Clark

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

ν.

MICHAEL M. TOBIN,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. 84,203

The Florida Bar Case No. 93-70,033(11F)

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

RHONDA G. LAPIN
Bar Counsel
Attorney No. 370258
The Florida Bar
444 Brickell Avenue
Suite M-100
Miami, Florida 33131
(305) 377-4445

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel Attorney No. 217395 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Fl 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director Attorney No. 123390 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Admissions which were deemed admitted conclusively establish that the Respondent sought an ex parte order without informing the Court of all the material facts in violation of Rule 4-3.3(d). Respondent knew that counsel for Avemco opposed removal of the funds from the Registry of the Court. Nevertheless, Respondent failed to notify counsel for Avemco of the petition for withdrawal of funds or the scheduled hearing. Furthermore, the proposed order was not submitted to Avemco's counsel.

Respondent's arguments simply ignore the procedural posture of this case and Respondent seeks to argue factual questions as if there had been a hearing regarding guilt. The hearing conducted by the Referee was exclusively devoted to determining the appropriate discipline insofar as the admissions were conclusive as to Respondent's guilt.

The admissions were also conclusive in regard to Respondent's failure to obey court orders requiring that the withdrawn funds be replaced. A forty-five (45) day suspension was clearly justified in view of that violation coupled with the improper ex parte conduct and aggravating factors. Florida's Standards for Imposing

<u>Lawyer Sanctions</u> and several discipline cases establish that the Referee committed no error in that regard.

Respondent's effort to attack the Referee's reasoning is misplaced. This Court has repeatedly stated that the rulings below will be affirmed or reversed based upon the nature of the rulings and not the reasoning process employed. In addition, Respondent failed to establish that the Referee's reasoning was incorrect in relation to the basic violations set forth in the Report.

ARGUMENT

I. PROCEEDING EX PARTE TO OBTAIN AN ORDER DIRECTING THE CLERK OF THE COURT TO DISBURSE FUNDS DEPOSITED IN THE COURT REGISTRY WITHOUT FULLY INFORMING THE JUDGE OF ALL OF THE MATERIAL FACTS CONSTITUTES A BASIS FOR DISCIPLINE.

The burden of proof before this Court is upon the Respondent who has Petitioned for Review of the Referee's Report. The Florida Bar v. McLure, 575 So.2d 176 (Fla. 1991). The party seeking review must show that the Report is erroneous unlawful or unjustified. Rule 3-7.7(c)(5), Rules of Professional Conduct. Respondent has failed to meet his burden of proof and has failed to overcome the presumption of correctness.

It is clear that Respondent's conduct constituted a violation of Rule 4-3.3(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduct. The facts deemed admitted before the Referee demonstrated that Respondent represented Plane Adds in the action against Avemco Insurance, that his associate delivered a motion to the Court requesting the release of \$32,423 held in the Court Registry (Paras. B and N), and that the representation to the Judge ex parte was that the motion was unopposed. (Para. O). The funds were then released by the Court although Respondent had not contacted Avemco regarding the release of the funds nor determined whether his associate had

done so (Para. Q). Avemco did not receive the proposed Order granting the right to withdraw until April 5, 1990, one day after the Order was signed (Para. R). Neither notice of a hearing before Judge Price nor a copy of the proposed order was provided as required by the Rules of Civil Procedure and the local rules (Para. S and T).

In view of the undisputed facts it is clear that Respondent was in violation of Rule of Professional Conduct 4-3.3(d) for failing in an exparte proceeding to inform the tribunal of all of the material facts that would enable the tribunal to make an informed decision.

Respondent seeks to argue the factual question of whether his client was the only party in the case who was entitled to the funds. That argument, however, involves a factual question which was not an issue in the proceedings before the Referee. The admissions deemed admitted, summarized above, point out that the opposing party, Avemco had no notice of the hearing, did not see the proposed order and, in fact, objected to the disbursal of those proceeds as reflected by their effort to obtain an emergency hearing as soon as the order was entered (Para. V). Whether or not, in hindsight, there was a party other than Respondent's client who had a financial interest in the proceeds, is irrelevant

and immaterial. Respondent's associate delivered an inaccurate and incomplete message to the Judge when the Judge was not informed of the lack of notice and the lack of opportunity to view the order before it was signed. The act was improper even if, in fact, it could be subsequently determined that Plane Adds was entitled to the funds.

Respondent attempts to raise some type of sufficiency of the evidence argument by challenging the accuracy of some of the admissions. Respondent, however, presents no authority for the proposition that he is free to do so, without challenging the Referee's ruling deeming those matters admitted. As stated previously, a hearing was held in regard to striking the Respondent's Answers to Request for Admissions which were submitted to the Referee, 78 days after they were served, and Respondent offered no defense for his inactivity for that long period of time.

Therefore, in view of the factual admissions and the applicable legal principles, Respondent was in violation of Rule 4-3.3(d). F.R.C.P. 1.080 requires that every paper filed in civil actions shall be served on the other party, unless the Court order

¹At the discipline hearing there was some testimony that Piper Aircraft was entitled to the funds. (T. 32).

otherwise. Furthermore, unless a matter may be heard <u>ex parte</u>, notice must be given. F.R.C.P. 1.090(d). F.S. 55.141 regarding funds in the court registry contains no provision for <u>ex parte</u> hearings. Therefore, it is clear that the <u>ex parte</u> conduct is improper.

Respondent is not in a position to challenge the admissions which were deemed admitted which establish that the ex parte meeting did take place with Respondent's associate and the Judge.2 There was no motion for relief from the order deeming the admissions conclusive. Therefore, the refusal to excuse noncompliance must be affirmed. Farish v. Lums, Inc., 267 So.2d 325 (Fla. 1972). When an order is entered deeming matters admitted, the requested matter is conclusively admitted and those matters remain so unless the Court on motion permits withdrawal or amendment. Morgan v. Thompson, 427 So.2d 1134 (Fla. 1983). Absent such relief, subsequent efforts to offer evidence will not prevail over the admissions. Morgan, supra. The Referee may correctly deem matters admitted when the Respondent has not properly addressed them. The Florida Bar v. Solomon, 589 So.2d 286 (Fla. 1991); The Florida Bar v. Dubow, 636 So.2d 1287 (Fla.

²Respondent acknowledged the meeting and approved it according to his testimony at the hearing on discipline. (T. 129).

1994). It would have been error if the Referee had disregarded the admissions and considered other facts. West v. West, 436 So.2d 1010 (5th DCA, 1983).

Since there has been no challenge to the ruling deeming the Requests for Admissions as admitted, and since the final hearing was not devoted to introducing evidence of guilt, Respondent's current argument regarding the sufficiency of the evidence is not properly before this Court.

The wording of Point I of the Points on Appeal also suggests that the Bar contends that the <u>ex parte</u> conduct, by itself, justifies suspension. Whether or not such is the case is not a matter at issue. The real issue, discussed in Point II is whether two violations and aggravating factors including a past record of discipline should result in suspension.

II. IT IS NOT ERROR TO SUSPEND AN ATTORNEY FOR REPEATED FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH COURT ORDERS, AGGRAVATING FACTORS, AND AN ADDITIONAL VIOLATION OF THE RULES OF PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY.

The Admissions quoted above and contained in the Referee's order unequivocally establish that a number of orders to return

the funds to the Registry were issued beginning in June 1990, but were not obeyed (Paras. X, Y, AA, BB, GG, HH).

There was some testimony at the hearing on discipline to the effect that Respondent and his partner and a referring attorney ultimately put the funds in the Registry, namely during 1994. The return of the funds took place after Respondent failed to obey several orders, was held in contempt and lost an appeal (T. 31). The return of the funds in 1994 was, therefore, irrelevant and immaterial. In addition, it was discussed in the context of the discipline phase of the case, and was not, and could not have been presented in the posture of a defense on the merits.

Respondent's past disciplinary history was also considered by the Referee in regard to the appropriate discipline. The Referee's report (P. 9) properly considered a public reprimand administered to the Respondent during 1979 and a private reprimand during 1989. (T. 145, 149, 161). The Report also recognized that Respondent had been practicing law since 1953. Florida's Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions identifies prior disciplinary offenses [9.22(a)] and substantial experience in the practice of law [9.22(i)] as aggravating factors.

There is no appeal before this Court of the foregoing findings. Therefore, they must be considered in relation to the

Respondent's argument that the 45 day suspension was unjustified. Also, the undisputed violation discussed above, the <u>ex parte</u> conduct which led the Judge to enter an order releasing the funds, must also be weighed in assessing appropriate discipline.

Suspension is appropriate in those cases in which the attorney's conduct is flagrant, not so heinous as to warrant disbarment, but is too serious for a mere reprimand or probation.

The Florida Bar v. Reed, 299 So.2d 583 (Fla. 1974). In addition, Florida Standard 6.12 provides:

Suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knows that false statements or documents are being submitted to the court or that material information is improperly being withheld, and takes no remedial action.

There do not appear to be cases with identical facts, but some similar and representative cases demonstrate that the discipline was appropriate in this case. A sixty (60) day suspension was granted in The Florida Bar v. Oxner, 431 So.2d 983 (Fla. 1983) for lying to the Judge. A six month suspension was ordered in The Florida Bar v. Snow, 436 So.2d 48 (Fla. 1983) in which the Respondent, as in this case, made false representations. The false representations in Snow were to the adverse party in order to obtain evidence.

In other cases involving somewhat similar conduct, the Respondent was suspended for a period of time greater than forty-five days. In The Florida Bar v. Myers, 581 So.2d 128 (Fla. 1991), Respondent submitted a settlement agreement which was previously executed without apprising the Court that the party signing the agreement did so when represented by previous counsel (in contemplation of a subsequently failed reconciliation). Respondent was suspended for ninety days. Also, in The Florida Bar v. Bloom, 632 So.2d 1016 (Fla. 1994) Respondent received a 91 day suspension for a series of refusals to carry out court orders.

Though some of the above violations were somewhat more serious than those of Respondent in this case, the terms of suspension were longer. Also, the aggravating factor of past violations and considerable experience as an attorney were properly considered. A past disciplinary history, in particular, justifies increased discipline. The Florida Bar v. Bern, 425 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1982). Respondent has failed to demonstrate any error in the forty-five (45) day suspension imposed under these circumstances.

Respondent does attempt to take issue with the Referee's reasoning, although his argument in this regard is not particularly clear. However, the Referee's reasoning is of no

consequence. The process of reasoning by which the trial court reached its conclusion is not regarded as the controlling factor in entering a reversal or affirmance. Perkins v. Coral Gables, 57 So.2d 663 (Fla. 1952); Re Wingo's Guardianship, 57 So.2d 883 (Fla. 1952); Bergin v. Dunne, 71 So.2d 746 (Fla. 1954). While Respondent quibbles with the alleged reasoning of the Referee, he fails to establish that any ruling by the Referee constituted error.

CONCLUSION

By reason of the foregoing, The Florida Bar requests this Honorable court to approve the Referee's findings of fact and recommendations, and approve the discipline that was recommended by the Referee.